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%w hen the  evidence was not yet completed as the w itnesses were not 
cross-examined, allowed the application and summoned the accused. 
On these facts the summoning order was quashed by a Single Bench 
of the G ujara t High Court. But, w ith  due respect, I am unable to 
concur w ith  the same view. Recently, in R aj Kishore Prasad  v. Sta te  
of B ihar  (11), the Apex Court has held as under :—

“A ddition of an  accused by sum m oning or resum m oning a 
d ischarged  accused, and th a t  too w ithou t h ea rin g  the 
accused, has only been perm itted  in the m anner provided 
by Section 319 Cr. P.C. on evidence adduced during the 
course of tria l, and in no o ther way.”

Thus it is app aren t th a t the petitioners till they  are sum m oned by 
the tr ia l  Court under Section 319 of the Code they had no rig h t to 
cross-exam ine the w itness Bal K rishan.

(27) Thus, in view of the above judgm ent of the Apex Court 
it is no more res-integra  th a t  such an accused against whom ah 
order under Section 319 of the Code is passed has no righ t of hearing 
before th a t  order is passed.

(28) A ccordingly, fin d in g  no m erit in  th e  p e titio n , i t  is 
dismissed.

(29) Copy of the order be conveyed to the tr ia l Judge so th a t  
he may proceed w ith  the tria l.
S.C.K.

Before Arun B. Saharya, C.J. & H.S. Bedi, J  
STATE BANK OF INDIA & ANOTHER,—Appellants

versus
D.C. AGGARWAL,—Respondent 

L.P.A. No. 364 of 1998 
The 9th March, 1999

Constitution o f India, 1950—Art. 226—Letters Patent Appeal, 
1919—Cl. X —Promotion policy o f the B ank dated 8th June, 1982 
as m o d if ie d  by th e  p o lic y  d a te d  2 3 rd  F e b r u a ry , 1984—

(11) A.I.R. 1996 S.C. 1931.
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Reconsideration o f claim for prom otion under orders o f H on’ble 
Suprem e Court—Respondent’s claim negatived following interview  
to adjudge his su itab ility  for prom otion to Top Executive Grade 
Scale V II (General Manager)— Officer obtained only 25.7% marks 
in the interview which was fa r below the prescribed 60% qualifying  
m arks— Respondent challenging only jurisdiction  o f Committee to 
take interview.— Court find ing  respondent never intended to subm it 
to the interview but only to filibuster and scuttle it— The officer 
cannot be perm itted to assail interview cut short by the departm ental 
p rom o tion  com m ittee— F in d in g  o f learned  S in g le  Ju d g e  th a t  
prom otion case between 1st August, 1984 and 1st August, 1988 
required to be examined in TEG Scale VII—Learned Single Judge  
deciding case on the basis o f Policy of 1989 that it could not be 
retrospectively applied— 1984 policy escaping notice o f learned  
Single Judge—Finding, therefore, set aside—R espondent’s claim  
for salary from  November, 92 to June, 93 denied on the ground  
that he had not joined duty on transfer to Hyderabad— Suprem e  
Court in respondent’s own case held . that the respondent’s posting  
to Hyderabad was not fa ir and that he has been re-transferred to 
Chandigarh—Direction by the learned Single Judge w ith regard 
to respondent’s claim to the paym ent o f salary was fu lly  justified .

Held  th a t  the respondent had never intended to subm it to the 
interview  b u t to filibuster and ultim ately  to scuttle it. The Suprem e 
Court had found the respondent to be “excitable” by tem peram ent, 
an  observation w ith  which we heartly  concur, but, in addition, after 
having heard  him  out over several days, we find him  to be an  
ex trem e ly  a r t ic u la te  and  in te ll ig e n t p erso n  as w ell. We a re  
convinced, therefore, th a t the respondent was acutely aw are of the 
consequences of his actions. The interview committee was, therefore, 
fully ju stified  in  cu ttin g  short the in terv iew  on account of his 
obduracy.

(Para 11)
Further held  th a t  it is tru e  as has been contended by the 

responden t th a t  the  questions asked of the resp o nd en t did not 
adequately  conform to all the  14 stipu lated  param eters, bu t we are 
of the opinion for reasons already recorded th a t  the respondent 
him self was responsible for th is sta te  of affairs.

(Para 11)
F urther held  th a t  the  respondent having ra ised  frivolous 

objections a t the tim e of the interview  apparently  was in no mood
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to subm it to its proceedings and in th is  eventuality  he cannot now 
com plain th a t  the interview  committee had not fairly  assessed him. 
I t  is equally significant th a t  the committee was of th ree  D eputy 
G eneral M anagers of the S tate  B ank of Ind ia and no allegations of 
personal anim us has been made against any of them . We have also 
gone through  the actual assessm ent made w ith  regard  to  the 14 
indicias and find th a t  m arks for each individual p aram ete r have 
been  given. The finding  of th e  lea rn ed  single Ju dg e  th a t  the  
evaluation  had not been made in accordance w ith  various indicias 
enum erated  in the policy of 8 th  June, 1982, is, therefore, not correct.

(Para 11)
Further held  th a t  we find from a reading of the judgm ent of 

the Hon’ble Suprem e Court in  Civil Appeal No. 4213 of 1992 decided 
on 13th October, 1992 [S tate B ank of Ind ia  and  o thers v. D.C. 
Aggarwal and another, 1993 (1) S.C.C. 13] th a t  although various 
issues had been raised  by the Bank, the Suprem e Court had based 
its decision only on the lim ited issue w ith regard to the consequences 
of the non-supply of the report of the C entral Vigilance Commission 
to the respondent during the course of the inquiry. I t  is, therefore, 
not open to the respondent to urge th a t  the finding of bias which 
had been recorded by the learned Single Judge stood endorsed by 
the H on’ble Suprem e C ourt. We cannot be oblivious to  h um an  
frailties, and the respondent’s irrev eren t behaviour tow ards his 
seniors in the Bank, more particu larly  tow ards those he perceived 
as being hostile and others who may have been his juniors a t  some 
stage, could have influenced th e ir a ttitu d e  tow ards him  and it was 
for the purpose of ensuring fair trea tm en t th a t  had prom pted the 
Hon’ble Suprem e Court to make orders in  the respondent’s favour 
in  th is  as also the connected appeal. We are fu rth e r of the opinion 
th a t  as the respondent’s case for promotion had been considered by 
some of the senior members of the B ank and as none of them  has 
been made a party , a broad allegation of in stitu tio n al bias is not 
acceptable.

(Para 12)
Sta te B ank o f Ind ia  (Supervisory S ta ff) Service Rules, 1975- 

Rl. 20— State B ank o f Ind ia  Officers Service Rules, 1992-Rl. 19— 
Extension in service beyond 5 8  years— Review Committee— Learned  
S ing le  Jud g e  declaring  recom m endation  of Review  C om m ittee  
arbitrary for the reason that Controlling authority while forw arding  
recommendations pa in ted  incorrect picture o f respondent’s record— 
Respondent not raising any objection to the Constitution o f the two
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m em ber R eview  C om m ittee a nd  the com petent a u th o r ity — No  
violation of guidelines found in refusing extension—Discretion to 
gran t extension in service vests in the competent au thority— No 
evidence that discretion exercised unfairly— No case for interference 
made out—Appeal dism issed and order of S ingle Judge set aside.

Held th a t the respondent appears to have accepted this position 
for the reason th a t he had raised  no objection to the constitu tion  of 
the two m em ber Review Committee and the com petent au thority  in 
the course of his pleadings and even before the learned Single Judge 
and it was on account of the questions raised by us in  th is appeal 
th a t appear to have prom pted him  to take up this plea for the first 
time.

(P ara 26)
Ashok Aggarwal, Sr. Advocate w ith  Sanjay  K apur, Ashok 

G upta and O.P. Sadana, Advocates for Appellants
D.C. Aggarwal, respondent, in person  

JU D G M EN T
H arjit S ingh Bedi, J.

(1) These appeals arise out of the following facts :
(2) S hri D.C. Aggarwal, the respondent herein , joined the 

service of the appellant-S tate  B ank of India on 15th January , 1960 
and  a f te r  receiv ing various prom otions from tim e to tim e was 
prom oted to the Top Executive Grade Scale VI (TEG) w ith  effect 
from 27th  July, 1980 and on the basis of th is promotion was posted 
as D eputy G eneral M anager, Incharge of the S tate  of H aryana and 
th e  U n io n  T e r r i to ry  of C h a n d ig a rh  w ith  h e a d q u a r te r s  a t  
C handigarh. He was, however, placed under suspension on 11th 
Ju ly , 1981 in  co n tem p la tio n  of a d e p a r tm e n ta l  e n q u iry  for 
m isconduct perta in ing  to the period w hen he had been posted as 
th e  B ranch  M anager of the  B ank of D hanbad. One S hri R.K. 
Rastogi, an  officer of the Indian  A dm inistrative Service from the 
Tamil N adu Cadre, was accordingly appointed to hold the enquiry. 
He subm itted  his report dated  30th May, 1985 exonerating  the 
respondent of the charges levelled against him  w ith  the finding 
th a t  they  were a m ere fabrication and an a ttem p t to denigrate the 
respondent’s conduct and for th a t purpose the Investigating Officials 
had  tr ied  to c rea te  evidence to im plicate him . The com peten t 
au thority , however, disagreed w ith  the findings recorded by the
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enquiry officer and imposed penalty  of reduction in ran k  by two 
stages, w hereupon the  respo nd en t w as rev erted  to the  M iddle 
M anagem ent Grade Scale-IV. This action was challenged by the 
respondent in C.W.P. No. 15874 of 1989 and a learned  single Judge 
of th is  Court in a judgm ent, dated 9 th  April, 1991 (and reported  as 
D.C. Aggarwal v. Sta te B ank o f Ind ia  and others (1), allowed the 
w rit petition holding th a t the punishm ent imposed on the respondent 
was very h a rsh  and not w arran ted  by the facts on the file. The 
order im pugned was accordingly quashed and certa in  consequential 
benefits ordered in his favour. Aggrieved by the order of the learned 
Single Judge, the B ank filed L etters P a ten t Appeal No. 553 of 1991 
which was dism issed by a Division Bench on 15th May, 1991. A 
Special Leave Petition  No. 10198 of 1991 was also filed and leave 
was g ran ted  but a fter hearing the p artie s  the appeal was dism issed 
on 13th October, 1992 vide judgm ent reported  as S ta te  B ank of 
Ind ia  and others v. D.C. Aggarwal and another (2). The Hon’ble 
Suprem e Court held th a t as the com petent authority  had relied upon 
the report of the C entral Vigilance Commission and as a copy thereof 
had not been supplied to the respondent, he had been prejudiced in 
his defence and, as such, the order reducing him  in ran k  could not 
be sustained . The respondent was, th e rea fte r served w ith  a notice 
dated 28th December, 1992 for the initiation  of a fresh departm ental 
enquiry. The respondent filed C.O.C.P. No. 1098 of 1992 against 
S a rv sh r i  V. M ah ad ev an  and  P.V. S ubba Rao, two M anag in g  
D irectors of the appellant-B ank and rule nisi was ordered. This 
order was challenged by the contem ners in S.L.P. No. 1707-08 of 
1993 and, on leave being granted, Civil Appeal No. 4017-18 of 1993 
was disposed of w ith  the following directions :—

“(i) The s ta tem en t of the learned A dditional Solicitor G eneral 
is accepted th a t no fresh enquiry shall be held against the 
respondent for the act or commission for which action was 
taken  against him  which resu lted  in reduction from ran k  
in 1987. Notice dated  28th December, 1992 shall stand  
w ithdraw n.

(ii) The S ta te  B ank of Ind ia  sh a ll reconsider the  claim  of 
prom otion of the respondent to h igher scale in accordance 
w ith  rules. We do not express any opinion on the question  
i f  interview for higher scale is necessary and i f  there was 
any valid justifica tion  for not prom oting the respondent

(1) 1991 (2)S.L.R. 578
(2) J.T. 1992 (6) S.C. 673
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whose record prior to these proceedings is unblem ished but 
i f  under the policy fram ed by the bank and followed in 
other cases constitution o f a committee and interview  is 
necessary then  the com m ittee  be c o n s titu ted  but the  
M anaging Director, S tate Bank o f India, Central Office, 
Bombay and M anaging Director (Personnel), S ta te B ank  
o f Ind ia , Central Office, Bombay who- are appellants in  
this Court may not be its members.

(iii) The committee shall be constituted w ithin three weeks from 
today which shall decide if respondent was en titled  to be 
prom oted to h igher scale in which his juniors are working 
as we are informed th a t  the respondent is reaching his 
age of superannuation. In  case the committee does not find 
the respondent suitable for promotion it shall give reasons 
for the same.

(iv) In  view of these facts and circum stances the  contem pt 
proceedings in  the High Court shall stand  dropped.”

(3) In  compliance w ith these directions, the G eneral M anager 
(Operations) stationed  a t the Local Head Office of the  B ank a t 
C handigarh  issued le tte r Annexure P-7, dated 26th August, 1993 
calling upon the respondent to a ttend  an  Interview  so as to adjudge 
his suitability for promotion to the TEG Scale VII (General M anager) 
Post. The respondent appeared before the Interview  Com mittee on 
1st Septem ber, 1993 and on assessm ent was awarded only 25.7% 
m arks, on which his claim for promotion was rejected vide A nnexure 
P-8, d a te d  8 th  S e p te m b e r, 1993. T he re s p o n d e n t  m ade a 
rep resen ta tion  against th is order vide Annexure P-9, dated  15th 
Septem ber, 1993, to the Chairm an of the appellant-B ank protesting  
a g a in s t th e  proceedings of th e  In terv iew  C om m ittee. He also 
approached the Hon’ble Suprem e Court by filing C.R. No. 324—93 
in C.A. No. 4017-18/1993 for in itia tion  of proceedings against the 
B ank bu t w ithdrew  the same on 17th Septem ber, 1993 w ith  liberty 
to  m ove th e  H ig h  C o u rt a g a in s t  th e  o rd e r  A n n e x u re  
P-8. Civil W rit Petition  No. 15245 of 1993 was accordingly filed by 
the respondent-w rit petitioner impugning Annexure P-8, dated 18th 
Septem ber, 1993 as also A nnexure P-5, dated  27th  May, 1993, 
whereby his claim  to the paym ent of salary for the period November 
1992 to 16th June, 1993 had been denied on the ground th a t  though
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he had been posted a t H yderabad, he had  not joined a t th a t  place 
and had rem ained absent w ithout leave. In the  w rit petition  the 
learned  single Judge noted the points in issue betw een the p artie s  
and came to the conclusion th a t  as the respondent-w rit petitioners 
case for prom otion had first to be considered on four d ifferent dates 
betw een 1st August, 1984 to the 1st August, 1988, th is assessm ent 
was to  be made under the prom otion policy of the bank  A nnexure 
P-1, dated  8 th  June, 1982, which provided for an inform al interview  
w ith  th e  M anaging D irector and some o ther Officers, b u t as a 
D epartm enta l Prom otion Com mittee had, on 1st Septem ber, 1993, 
evaluated  the respondent’s m erit in accordance w ith  the  prom otion 
policy, A nnexure P-2, dated 11th M arch, 1989, which was la te r  in 
p o in t of tim e  and  p rov ided  for in te rv iew  by a D e p a rtm e n ta l 
Promotion Committee, the assessm ent was bad in law and, therefore, 
wholly unjustified. The learned  Single Judge also held th a t  the 
failure of the Interview  Com mittee to assess the respondent’s m erit 
in  th e  lig h t of th e  v ario u s ind icias e n u m e ra te d  in  th e  policy 
A nnexure P-1, dated  8 th  June, 1982, supported the  inference th a t 
the respondent had been dealt w ith in an arb itra ry  and unjustifiable 
m anner. The learned  single Judge also found th a t  the respondent’s 
case was to be considered twice over again  on 24th April, 1989 and 
3rd Septem ber, 1992, for promotion to the same post and though 
h is case to th is  ex ten t had  been rig h tly  considered  u n d e r the 
prom otion policy circulated on 11th M arch, 1989, (Annexure P-2), 
the D epartm ental Prom otion Com mittee had again  gone wrong as 
the respondent’s case had been assessed in a cloistered m anner 
w ithout m aking a proper appreciation of the record separately , for 
each year, w ith  reference to the re levant dates and the evaluation  
had, in  fact, been done a t one and the same tim e for both the years. 
T he le a rn e d  s in g le  Ju d g e , h ow ev er, re fu se d  to  a c ce p t th e  
respondent’s argum ent th a t an interview  was not envisaged in  his 
case and for arriv ing  a t th is  conclusion relied upon the explicit 
w ording of the policy Annexure P-1. The learned single Judge then  
w ent on to hold th a t  the w ithholding of the respondent’s salary  for 
the period November, 1992 to 16th June , 1993 was unjustified  and 
in the light of the  fact th a t  even the Hon’ble Suprem e Court had, 
w hile d isposing of S.L.P. No. 1707-08 of 1993, opined th a t  the 
respondent’s posting to H yderabad was not fair and needed to be 
reviewed. It was accordingly held th a t it could not be said th a t  the
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respondent had been absent from duty from 8 th  November, 1992 to 
16th June, 1993 w ithout justification. This claim was allowed as 
well, and A nnexures P-5 and P-8 were accordingly quashed. The 
p resen t appeal has been filed against th is judgm ent of the learned 
Single Judge, w hereas Cross-Objections have been filed by the 
respondent as well im pugning the verdict of the learned  Single 
Judge on the questions decided against him.

(4) We have heard  Mr. Ashok Aggarwal, the Senior Advocate, 
for the appellant-B ank and the respondent, Mr. D.C. Aggarwal, in 
person, a t very g reat length. Mr. Ashok Aggarwal has argued th a t 
the finding of the learned single Judge th a t the respondent’s case 
for prom otion to the Top Executive Scale Grade VII (TEG VII) on 
’four dates betw een 1st August, 1984 and 1st August, 1988 under 
the prom otion policy of the bank  Annexure P-2, dated 11th M arch, 
1989, could not have been made retrospectively  was based on a 
factual error. In  th is connection he has pointed out th a t  prom otions 
to senior positions in the appellant-bank, ihcluding the respondent’s 
case, were to be considered in term s of the policy Annexure P-1 as 
modified by the policy dated 23rd F ebruary , 1984, appended as 
A nnexure A-2 w ith  C.M. No. 1142 of 1998 and as the assessm ent 
had, in  fact, been made in term s of the policy A nnexure A-2 the 
finding of the learned  single Judge was wrong. He has in  th is  
connection also urged th a t though a copy of the policy Annexure A- 
2 was in the voluminous record th a t had been produced before the 
learned  single Judge, it appears to have escaped notice. On the 
o ther hand the respondent has pointed out th a t th is  policy had for 
the firs t tim e been put on the record vide the civil m iscellaneous 
application afore-m entioned and, as such, it fcould not now be looked 
at. We have heard  the parties on this score as well. I t  is true  th a t  
the  policy of 1984 (A nnexure A-2) was not adverted  to in  the 
pleadings of e ith er of the parties, bu t the fact th a t th is policy does 
exist and does govern the respondent’s case for prom otion has not 
been denied. We are, therefore, of the opinion th a t  it would be in 
the in te re s t of justice to take it into account. Mr. Ashok A ggarwal’s 
argum ent would have to be exam ined in th is background. I t  is to 
be noted th a t the respondent’s case for promotion to the TEG Scale 
VII had to be exam ined w ith reference to four different dates, viz., 
1st A ugust, 1984, 20th  F ebruary , 1986, 8 th  Ju ne , 1987 and 1st
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A ugust, 1988 and  th e re a f te r  as on 2 4 th  A pril, 1989 and  3rd 
F eb ru a ry , 1992. I t  is, th e re fo re , a p p a re n t th a t  th e  f ir s t  four 
assessm ents were to be made under the term s of the policy Annexure 
A-2, dated  23rd February, 1984. The learned single Judge has found 
th a t  the respondent’s case for prom otion had been considered by a 
D epartm enta l Prom otion Com mittee which was envisaged for the 
first tim e under the policy of 1989. We are of the opinion, however, 
th a t  th is finding of the learned single Judge cannot be sustained . 
A p e ru s a l  of th e  policy of 1982 A nn exu re  P-1 show s th a t  in  
parag raphs 1 to 4 the existing procedure for prom otion provided 
under the instructions dated 28th November, 1975, 13th Septem ber, 
1978, 8 th  Septem ber, 1978 and 14th August, 1981 for prom otion to 
scale V and scale VI (subsequently revised as scales VI and VII) 
had been recapitu lated  w herein  it had been pointed out th a t  the 
official’s p as t perform ance would be determ ined on the basis of his 
ACRs and his potentiality  for handling higher responsibilities would 
be assessed on the basis of an inform al interview  to be conducted 
by the M anaging Director, and any one or more of the m em bers of 
the  C en tra l m anagem ent Com m ittee of the B ank. P a rag ra p h  5 
onwards, however, postulated a new procedure envisaging th a t  these 
two aspects would now be sep ara te ly  assessed  by th e  C en tra l 
Com m ittee and as prom otions to grade V and grade VI were very 
senior level promotions and a high degree of efficiency was required, 
it was appropriate  th a t  an officer who was unable to get a m inim um  
score of 60% e ith er in  the appraisal of the p ast perform ance or in 
the interview , would not be considered for prom otion. I t  was also 
suggested th a t instead  of the inform al interview , envisaged earlier, 
a s tru c tu red  interview  would be held in which su itab le questions 
would be asked w ith  regard  to the (eight) or ten  indicias m entioned 
in  the  policy. This policy was modified by the  policy dated  23rd 
F ebruary , 1984 (Annexure A-2) and while m ain tain ing  the system  
of a s tru c tu red  interview , now suggested 14 indicias instead  of 8, 
and th a t  prom otions to TEG Scale V and above would be m ade by a 
D epartm enta l Prom otion Com mittee consisting of the Chairm an, 
th e  M anag ing  D irec to r and  nom inees of the  C en tra l B oard  of 
D irecto rs of th e  b an k  and  th a t  it w as th is  body w hich w ould 
recom m end the  nam es for prom otion to  the  final body, i.e. the  
E xecutive C om m ittee of th e  C en tra l B oard  of th e  B ank. This 
p ro ced u re  w as b ro ad ly  re ta in e d  even  u n d e r th e  1989 policy
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(Annexure P-2) w ith  the rid er th a t  an  officer who was unable to 
score 70% in the appra isa l of h is p ast perform ance would not be 
called for interview . I t  is evident from the resum e of the facts given 
above th a t  the respondent’s case for prom otion betw een 1st August, 
1984 and  1st A ugust, 1988 was to be considered in the light of the 
p aram eters laid down in the prom otion policy of 1982 (Annexure P- 
1) as modified by the policy of 1984 (Annexure A-2). In  th is view of 
the m atter, the. finding o f the learned single Judge th a t the policy 
of 1989 could not be retrospectively applied, though legally correct, 
is based on an incorrect appreciation of the facts.

(5) The q u e s tio n  th a t  now a r ise s  is as to  w h e th e r  th e  
respondent’s case had, in  fact, been considered under the 1982 and 
the  1984 policy and, if so, w hether the assessm ent was in accordance 
w ith the param eters provided thereunder. We have in  this connection 
perused  A nnexure A-3 dated  4 th  Septem ber, 1993, the m inutes of 
the m eeting held on th a t  date w ith  regard  to the prom otion of the 
responden t to T .E.G . Scale VII. The Com m ittee noted th a t  the 
q u a lify in g  p e rc e n ta g e  o f m a rk s  in  th e  in te rv ie w  and  p a s t  
p erfo rm an ce  w as 60% m ark s in  each  sp h e re  and  th a t  as th e  
respondent had been under suspension from 21st July, 1981 to 12th 
November, 1987, the reports up to 21st July, 1981 only would be 
tak en  into consideration  in appraising his past perform ance in the 
sam e m anner as h ad  been done for o th e r eligible officers. The 
Com mittee th en  m ade the assessm ent for each individual year. The 
Com mittee first considered the case of the respondent for promotion 
as on 1st August, 1984 and  observed th a t it was necessary to obtain 
a m inim um  of 60% m arks separately  under the heads “perform ance 
appra isa l” and “interview  for assessm ent of potential” and w hereas 
he had got 60% m arks u n d er the head “perform ance appra isa l” he 
had obtained only 25.7% m arks in  the interview  which was far below 
the  prescribed 60% qualifying m ark. I t  was fu rth e r pointed out th a t 
of the 52 officers, who had  been interview ed for prom otion w ith  
effect from 1st August, 1984, nine officers had failed to secure 60% 
m arks in the  interview  w hereas the officer lowest in m erit who had, 
in  fact, been prom oted had secured 70% m arks in  the “perform ance 
appra isa l” and 66% m arks in  the interview  making an  aggregate of 
136 m arks out of 200. The committee also made a sim ilar assessm ent 
w ith  regard to the promotions contem plated on 20th February, 1986,
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8 th  Ju n e , 1987, 1st A ug ust, 1988, 2 4 th  A pril, 1989 and  3rd  
February , 1992. We also find th a t  in the very n atu re  of the situation  
in which the appellant-B ank and  the respondent were placed, the 
interview  com m ittee had absolutely no option b u t to consider the 
respondent’s case a t one and a t the same tim e. I t  bears re ite ra tio n  
th a t  the Hon’ble Suprem e Court had in its  o rder dated  17th August, 
1993 (V . M ahadevan  a nd  others  v. D.C. A ggarw al (3), c learly  
d irec ted  th a t  the  case for prom otion w ould be considered by a 
Com mittee which would be constituted w ith in  th ree  weeks from th a t 
date. I t  was in th is  s ituation  th a t  the  In terview  Com m ittee had 
m ade its  ap p ra isa l in its  m eeting  held on 1st Septem ber, 1993 

i (A nnexure R-2) and  th a t  these recom m endations had  also been 
endorsed by the D irectors Prom otion Com m ittee on 7 th  Septem ber, 
1993 (Annexure R-3) and approved by the com petent au thority  on 
the same date. Faced w ith  th is situation , the respondent has tu rned  
to his cross objections and  has argued th a t  as he had been prom oted 
to the TEG Scale VI, w ith  effect from 27th Ju ly , 1980 he could not 
have been interview ed for the same post in  the year 1993.^He has 
also urged th a t as he had been under suspension from 1981 to 1987, 
a p roper assessm ent of his record could not have been made for the 
purpose of promotion. Mr. Ashok A ggarw al, has however, urged 
th a t  the  responden t had  now here p leaded th a t  he could not be 
subjected to an  interview  and had, in fact, only made a challenge 
to the jurisd iction  of the Com m ittee to take the interview . He has 
also pointed out th a t  the interview  had been  held in  accordance 
w ith  the  directions of the Hon’ble Suprem e Court given on 17th 
August, 1993 reported  as M ahadevan and others v. D.C. Aggarwal 
(S upra), we have h eard  th e  p a rtie s  on th is  score as w ell. The 
respondent had ea rlie r been prom oted to TEG Grade VI, w hereas 
the  prom otion now under consideration w as to TEG Grade VII. I t  is 
also significant th a t  there  is no challenge to the prom otion policies 
of 1982, 1984 and 1989. As already indicated  above, the policies 
afo re-m en tioned  specifically  provided  for th e  a sse ssm en t of a 
cand id a te ’s p as t perform ance on the b asis  of h is ACRs and  his 
po ten tia l for h igher responsibility  on th e  basis of his perform ance 
in  an  interview  which prior to 1982 w as to be an  inform al one, and

(3) A.I.R. 1994 S.C. 961
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after 1982, a struc tu red  and form al interview  before a Com mittee 
to be held on the basis of eight (1982 policy) and th e rea fte r 14 (1984 
policy) indicia, laid down therein . Moreover, in its  judgm ent dated 
17th August, 1993 the Hon’ble Suprem e Court (and quoted on page 
3) had clearly observed in  sub-para (ii) of p arag rap h  3 th a t  the 
bank  would consider the respondent’s case for promotion under the 
re levan t policies, in  the m anner in  which the o ther officers had 
been assessed

(6) The respondent has, in th is  situation, argued th a t  even 
assum ing for a moment th a t an interview  was envisaged under the 
rules, no interview  could be held in his case for the reason th a t  he 
had  been under suspension from 1981 to 1987. We are of the opinion 
th a t  th is  argum ent has no basis as the Suprem e Court in  the order 
referred  to above, had  clearly observed th a t  the respondent was to 
be tre a ted  a t p a r w ith  those, am ongst his colleagues, who had  been 
prom oted earlier.

(7) I t  has then  been argued by Mr. Ashok Aggarwal th a t  the 
respondent had obtained 25.7% m arks in the interview  and  as th is 
w as well below the 60% qualifying m arks s tip u la ted  under the 
policies for promotion, the respondent could not succeed in any case. 
He has also pointed out th a t the finding of the learned single Judge 
th a t  the failure of the Interview  Committee to make a fair evaluation 
of th e  re sp o n d e n t’s m e rit in  th e  lig h t of th e  v a rio u s  in d ic ia  
enum erated  in the policies of 1982 and 1984 was incorrect. He has 
urged th a t the respondent had made a deliberate a ttem pt to frustrate  
the interview  and, as such, the com m ittee was fully justified  in 
a sk in g  only  th re e  q u es tio n s  of th e  re sp o n d e n t. He h as  also  
em phasised  th a t  th e re  were no allegations of p ersona l anim us 
against any m em ber of the interview  com mittee and in the face of 
th is  s itu a tio n , no adverse  fin d ing  could be d raw n  q ua  th e se  
proceedings. The respondent has, however, laid much stress on the 
fact th a t  though the policy provided for an interview  on 14 d ifferent 
indicia laid down, the questions asked of the respondent satisfied 
hard ly  any of them . We have gone th rou gh  the  m inutes of the  
interview  held on 1st Septem ber, 1993 between 4.40 p.m. and 5.45 
p.m. and appended as Annexure R-2 w ith  the reply. The Committee 
took note th a t the respondent was to be assessed on the 14 param eters 
enum erated  below :—

1. Knowledge of corporate goals and objectives.
2. Awareness of scoial, economic, political environm ent.
3. A daptability  to changing needs of the organisation.
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4. Self confidence.
5. Achievem ent m otivation.
6. Em otional stability
7. Concern for productivity  and efficiency
8. In itia tive  and creativ ity
9. A nalytical skills and decision m aking abilities.
10. P lanning  and  O rganisation  abilities.
11. In ter-personal and team  building skills.
12. Public relations skills.
13. Effectiveness in  com m unication
14. D evelopm ent of staff.
(8) In  parag raph  2 of the  proceeding, it has been observed 

th a t  a f te r  an  exch ang e  of p le a s a n tr ie s ,  th e  m em bers of th e  
Com m ittee had attem pted  to in itia te  the  form al interview  b u t the 
responden t had  been in s is te n t th a t  he should  be given ce rta in  
clarifications on his case and  the judgm ent given by the H on’ble 
S uprem e C ourt and  th a t  he had  not p e rm itted  th e  C om m ittee 
M embers to proceed w ith  the interview  by ra ising  irre lev an t points. 
The Committee had then  asked three questions and received answers 
there to . These are  reproduced below :—

“(i) W hat are  his p resen t areas of responsibility  and  specific 
achievem ents’ as D eputy G eneral M anager, C handigarh, 
M ain B ranch for the  las t 2/3 m onths ?
S hri A ggarw al did not give any direct answ er and  was 
try in g  to evade th e  question  by b ring ing  in  irre lev a n t 
points.

(ii) W hat a re  th e  basic recom m endatio ns of N aras im h am  
Committee ?
Shri Aggarwal could not give, despite repeated  enquiry, 
any specific point, except m entioning about SLR as one of 
the  item s. But he could not s ta te  to w hat extent and w ithin 
w hat tim e fram e, SLR was recom m ended to be reduced. 
Incidently, he m entioned th a t  N a ra s imham  Com m ittee 
recom m endations were on tax  reform s.

(iii) W hat a re  th e  sa lien t fe a tu re s  of the  la s t c red it policy 
announced by Reserve Bank of Ind ia  ?
S hri Aggarwal failed to give any answ er.”
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(9) The Com mittee then  recorded th a t  the respondent had 
w anted  to bring in certa in  papers and subm it some le tte rs  to the 
Com mittee, which had no relevance and finally concluded th a t  he 
had not been serious about the  in terv iew  and  th a t  his level of 
understand ing  and aw areness as also his potential for promotion 
was far below the desired level. We are of the opinion th a t  the 
course of the interview  as recorded in the m inutes suggests two 
possibilities : firstly, th a t the respondent, was, despite having served 
for more th an  30 years in the Banking Industry , to tally  unaw are 
of its  fundam entals and, secondly, th a t  he had made a deliberate 
a ttem p t to forestall the  interview. To our mind, e ith er of these two 
possibilities, destroys the respondent’s case, but the second one looks 
to be more plausible. O ur view finds support from the docum ents 
produced and relied upon by the respondent himself. The respondent 
has p u t on record a note date 1st Septem ber, 1993, which he had 
p repared  for the members of the Review Committee (though they 
had  refused to accept it) and which he had  th en  handed over to the 
P rivate  S ecretary  to the Chief G eneral M anager (Personnel) and a 
Telex M essage dated  15th Septem ber, 1993 sen t by him  to the 
C hairm an of the S ta te  Bank of India, C entral Office, Bombay. As 
the interview  had also been held on 1st Septem ber, 1993, the first 
note is, th e re fo re , a con tem poraneous docum ent m ade by th e  
respondent him self. We reproduce here the two docum ents :—
“From

D.C. Aggarwal, Dy. G eneral M anager (SBI)
Camp : SBI, C entral Office, Bombay.
1st Septem ber, 1993
Note for the Hon’ble Interview  Committee members

S u b je c t  C o n s id e ra t io n  for p ro m otion  to G en e ra l M a n a g e r’s 
Grade (VII)

This has a reference to the  inform al discussions w ith  the 
Hon’ble members.

2. As subm itted  I received on 30th A ugust, 1993, C en tra l 
Office rep ly  to my Fax m essage of 25th  A ugust, 1993 
(enclosed copy handed  over personally) calling  me for 
interview  for G eneral M anager’s Grade w hereas my case 
before the Suprem e Court of India and High Court is for
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prom otion and appointm ent to Chief G eneral M anager’s 
G rade in  which my jun iors are w orking since Jan u a ry , 
1992.

3. W ith g reat respect I subm it to you herew ith  a copy of the 
recent judgm ent of the Hon’ble Suprem e Court of Ind ia 
d a te d  1 7 th  A u g u st, 1993 fo r y o u r k in d  p e ru s a l . In  
p a r tic u la rs  I d raw  your a tte n tio n  to  d irec tions No. ii 
and iii :—

Direction (ii)—We do not express any opinion on the question 
if interview  for h igher scale is necessary and if the re  was 
any valid justification  for not prom oting the respondent 
whose record p rior to these proceedings is unblem ished”. 
B ut if the ru les perm it then  the com m ittee be constitu ted .

D irection (iii)—The (said) com m ittee shall be constitu ted  
w ith in  th re e  w eeks from  today  w hich sh a ll decide if 
respondent (i.e. D.C. Aggarwal) was entitled to be promoted 
to h igher scale in  which his juniors are working.

4. From the above you w ill observe that since my jun iors are 
already working as C hief General M anagers w ith  effect 
from 30th January, 1991 therefore, this H on’ble committee 
has to decide my entitlem ent to C.G .M ’s. scale i.e. Top 
Executive Grade (Special Scale-I) and not for TEG V II for 
which no form al interview is prescribed in rules.

5. I t  w o u ld  a p p ea r  th a t  once a g a in  th ere  is a 
m isinterpretation  o f the judgm ent and directions o f the 
H on’ble Supreme Court in the same way in which the bank  
g u id ed  by its  able legal lu m in a ries decided upon the 
“revival o f d isciplinary proceedings” ,— vide notice dated  
28th December, 1982. This step was not an innocent error 
but a deliberate attem pt to over reach the H igh Court and  
the Suprem e Court and achieve the objective which they 
fa iled  to succeed before the Courts. The bank  was fully 
aw are th a t  the  p ray e r before the  H igh C ourt and the  
Suprem e Court for being granted  the liberty  to “revive” 
the disciplinary action had been rejected in  the L e tte rs  
P a te n t Appeal by the High Court and the Special Leave 
P etition  had been rejected by the Suprem e Court (Kindly 
re fe r to grounds of appeal in  LPA and SLP). I t  was th is 
action of the bank  which was tak en  strong  exception to by 
the H igh C ourt which was constrained to pass an  in terim  
order th a t  a prim a facie case of contem pt had been made
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out and rule nisi was issued to both the Managing Directors 
later when the two M.D.s. went in appeal to Supreme Court, 
the Apex Court had once again to strike down the said 
revival notice of the bank.

6. XX XX XX
7. XX XX XX
8. XX XXX XX
9. XXX XX XX
10. XX XX XXX
11. XX XX XX

D.C. Aggarwal,
Dy. G eneral M anager,
TEG VI

I may add th a t the members of the interview  board advised 
me through the Chief G eneral M anager (Personnel) Shri 
D andekar th a t I shall not be allowed to take in my brief 
case containing im portan t papers of achievem ents made 
by me etc.

The mem bers also advised me th a t the m andate to them  from 
the top m anagem ent was to interview  me for TEG Scale 
VII only and they did not know about the Suprem e Court 
order as also the date w ith  effect from which the promotion 
even  as TEG V II w as to  be considered . The H on’ble 
m em bers refused to accept the note as well as the  Fax 
M essage which I had earlier sent to Dy. M.D. (Personnel).

Sd/-
D.C. Aggarwal”

(10) It is apparen t th a t th is document, as originally drafted, 
ended a t P arag raph  11 but a postscript was apparently  added by 
the respondent a fter it had not been accepted by the mem bers of 
the interview  committee. The Telex Message dated 15th Septem ber, 
1993 is equally clear as to the m anner in  which the respondent had 
conducted him self before the interview  com mittee. This docum ent 
is reproduced below in extenso :
TELEX MESSAGE DATED 15th Septem ber, 1993
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S hri D. Basu, Chairm an,
S ta te  B ank of India,
C entral Office, Bombay.

From  :
Shri D.C. Aggarwal.’
Dy. G eneral M anager,
S ta te  B ank of India,
Sector 17, M ain Branch,
C handigarh.
Sir,
I shall be failing in  my duty if  I do not th an k  you for sparing 

your valuable tim e by g ran ting  me an  audience on the 
2nd Septem ber, 1993. I  had apprised you briefly that on 
the p rev io us day i.e on the 1st Sep tem ber, 1993, the  
interview  by the three D eputy M anaging Directors, could 
not take place for want o f certain clarifications, which were 
req u ired  reg a rd in g  the g rad e  fo r  w h ich  I  w as to be 
in te rv ie w e d  as p e r  S u p re m e  C ourt d ire c tio n s .  The 
C om m ittee m em bers had  told  me th a t  they  w ere only 
concerned w ith  the  interview  for TEGS-VII and th a t  they 
were not aw are of the directions of the  Hon’ble Suprem e 
Court of India. Even the learned  mem bers were not aw are 
of the date w ith effect from which, the promotion for TEGS- 
VII was being considered. At this stage, the Chief G eneral 
M anager (Personnel) S hri M.N. D andekar, was called in 
w ho a lso  s ta te d  t h a t  he w ould  n o t be ab le  to  give 
clarifications desired by me. Then, the C hairm an of the 
Committee Shri Supriya Gupta, Deputy M anaging Director 
(Commercial Banking) observed “all right we will sta te  th a t 
the interview  could not be held for w ant of clarifications 
needed by D.C. Aggarwal”. The o ther mem ber S hri N.M. 
Choridia made ano ther observation, “We will say th a t  you 
did not p artic ipate  and interview  could not be held. The 
th ird  m em ber m erely said we are not aw are of the legal 
position”. So interview  did not take place. A le tte r  to th is 
effect was given by me to the P.S. to the Chief G eneral 
M anager (Personnel) duly acknowledged.
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2. Also on th e  sam e day w hen I m et D epu ty  M anag ing  
D irector (Personnel), Shri N.G. Pillai, I had inform ally 
m entioned to him th a t interview  could not tak e  place for 
the same reason. I also brought to his notice the mala fide  
trea tm en t being given to me by the Controlling A uthority  
w ith  a view to somehow build up some record against me 
so th a t  it could be used against me by the Committee which 
was considering my case for extension in service. I also 
brought to your notice a D.O. le tte r  No. GMO/83, dated 
the 25th August, 1993 received from the G eneral M anager 
(O perations) the  tenor of the language and conten ts of 
which had shocked me immensely.

3. However, from B ank’s le tte r  No. GMO/CBC/11276, dated 
8 th  Septem ber, 1993, I am shocked to note th a t  I secured 
25.7% m arks in  the interview , instead of 60% qualifying 
m arks. This position  is not correct. I am sw earing  an 
affidavit to th is effect. If  I can get 25.7% w ithout interview, 
then  most humbly I would get near 100% m arks if interview  
had really  tak en  place.

I do (sic) it proper to bring  the above facts to your knowledge.
W ith best regards,

D.C. Aggarwal.”
(11) These documents clearly reveal the respondent’s m indset 

and w hen read  along w ith m inutes of the  meeting, it will be clear 
th a t  he had  never in tended  to subm it to  th e  in terv iew  b u t to 
filibuster and ultim ately  to scuttle it. The Supreme Court had found 
the respondent to be “excitable” by tem peram ent, an observation 
w ith  which we heartly  concur, but, in addition, a fter having heard  
him  out over several days, we find him to be an extrem ely articu late  
and in telligen t person as well. We are convinced, therefore, th a t  
the respondent was acutely aware of the consequences of his Actions. 
The interview  com mittee was, therefore, fully justified  in cu tting  
short the interview  on account of his obduracy. I t  is also evident 
th a t  the document dated  1st Septem ber, 1993 had been prepared  
by the respondent before he had gone for the interview  and his 
perception of w hat was required a t th a t  tim e is clearly reflected in 
it. To our mind, the m inutes are a fa ith fu l record of w hat had 
transp ired . The Committee had nevertheless awarded m arks on the 
14 indicias laid  down. I t  is true, as has been contended by the
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respondent, th a t  the questions asked  of the respondent did not 
adequatley  confirm to all the  14 stipu la ted  param eters, bu t we are 
of the opinion for reasons already recorded, th a t  the respondent 
h im se lf  w as re sp o n sib le  fo r th is  s ta te  of a ffa irs . M r. A shok 
A ggarwal’s reliance on a judgm ent of the Hon’ble Suprem e Court 
in  B ank o f In d ia  v. Apurba K um ar Saha  (4), is thu s fully justified. 
This too was a case of a bank employee who had refused to avail of 
sev e ra l o p p o rtu n itie s  p rovided  to  him  to  defend  h im se lf  in  a 
disciplinary proceeding. The Hon’ble Suprem e Court held th a t  such 
an  employee had  forfeited his rig h t to claim  a t a la te r  stage th a t  the 
disciplinary proceedings stood v itia ted  as being in violation of the 
principles of n a tu ra l justice. The observations of the Suprem e Court 
apply to the facts of the p resen t case. The respondent having raised  
frivolous objections at the tim e of the interview  apparently  was in 
no mood to subm it to its  proceedings and in th is  even tuality  he 
cannot now com plain th a t the interview  com m ittee had  not fairly 
assessed him. It is equally significant th a t  the com m ittee was of 
th ree  D eputy G eneral M anagers of the S ta te  B ank of Ind ia and  no 
allegations of personal anim us has been made against any of them . 
We have also gone through the actual assessm ent made w ith regard  
to the 14 indicias m entioned above and find th a t  m arks for each 
individual p aram ete r have been given. The finding of the learned  
single Judge th a t  the evaluation  had not been m ade in  accordance 
w ith various indicias enum erated  in  the policy of 8 th  Ju ne , 1982, 
is, therefore, not correct.

(12) The respondent has also laid  great em phasis on the fact 
th a t  the officers of the appellant-bank  were prejudiced aga inst him  
for having had the tem erity  to take the bank  and its  officials to 
Court repeatedly  and th a t th is  institu tio nal bias was reflected in 
the assessm ent of his case for promotion. In  th is connection, reliance 
has been placed on the judgm ent of th is  Court in  C.W.P. No. 15874 
of 1989 decided 9 th  April, 1991 (reported as D.C. Aggarwal v. Sta te  
B ank  o f Ind ia ) (Supra), as also the  inquiry  rep ort subm itted  by 
S hri Rastogi on 30th May, 1985 in which severe s tric tu res  had been 
made against the officials of the Bank. I t  has accordingly been urged 
by the respondent th a t  as the L etters P a ten t Appeal as also the 
Special Leave P etition  against the o rder of the learned  single Judge 
h ad  been  d ism issed , th e se  o b se rva tio ns stood  as being  final. 
Mr. Ashok Aggarwal has however pointed out th a t  the finding of

(4) 1994 (1) S.L.R. 260,
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bias and unfair trea tm en t th a t had rendered  by the inquiry officer 
had been accepted by the learned single Judge and no fu rth e r and 
reliance has been placed on the judgm ent of the Hon’ble Suprem e 
Court in  Civil Appeal No. 4213 of 1992 decided on 13th October, 
1992, State B ank o f Ind ia  and 6thers v. D.C. Aggarwal and another 
(5), the  S.L.P. filed by the Bank against the o rder of the learned 
single Judge and the L etters P a ten t Bench of th is  Court. We find 
from a reading of th is judgm ent th a t although various issues had 
been raised  by the Bank, the Supreme Court had based its  decision 
only on the lim ited issue w ith  regard  to the consequences of the 
non-supply of the report of the C entral Vigilance Commission to 
the respondent during the course of the inquiry. It is, therefore, 
not open to the respondent to urge th a t the finding of bias which 
had been recorded by the learned single Judge stood endorsed by 
th e  H on’ble suprem e Court. We cannot be oblivious to hum an  
frailties, and the respondent’s irrev eren t behaviour tow ards his 
seniors in  the Bank, more particu larly  tow ards those he perceived 
as being hostile and others who may have been his juniors a t some 
stage, could have influenced th e ir a ttitu d e  tow ards him and it was 
for the purpose of ensuring fair trea tm en t th a t had prom pted the 
Hon’ble Suprem e Court to make orders in the respondent’s favour 
in th is  as also the connected appeal. We are fu rth er of the opinion 
th a t  as the respondent’s case for prom otion had been considered by 
some of the senior m embers of the Bank and as none of them  has 
been m ade a party , a broad allegation of in stitu tio n al bias is not 
acceptable.

(13) It has finally been argued by Mr. Ashok Aggarwal th a t 
the finding of the learned single Judge th a t the respondent was 
entitled  to the paym ent of salary from November, 1992 to 16th June, 
1993 d esp ite  th e  fac t th a t  he h ad  n o t jo in ed  d u ty  on b e in g  
transfe rred  to H yderabad was also wrong as the respondent had 
disobeyed orders given to him. This argum ent, however, does not 
commend itse lf to us. The Hon’ble Supreme Court while disposing 
of S.L.P. No. 1707-08 of 1993. (V. M ahadevan and another v. D.C. 
Aggarwal (6), had already observed th a t  the respondent’s posting 
to H yderabad was not fair and it was on th a t account th a t he had 
been re -transferred  to Chandigarh. In  this view of the m atter, we 
are of the opinion th a t the respondent’s claim to the paym ent of 
salary  was fully justified. We are, therefore, of the opinion th a t  no 
fau lt can be found w ith  th is finding of the learned single Judge.

(5) 1993 (1) S.C.C. 13.
(6) J.T. 1993 (4) S.C. 571.
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(14) The L.P.A. No. 364 of 1998 is, therefore, p artly  allowed, 
th e  jud g m en t of the  lea rn ed  single Ju dg e  q uash in g  th e  o rd er 
A nnexure P-8, dated  8 th  Septem ber, 1993, is set aside, w here it is 
m aintained qua  the  finding w ith  regard  to A nnexure P-5, dated  
27th May, 1993. The Cross objections/Appeal reg istered  as L.P.A. 
No. 80 of 1999 are also dism issed.

Letters Patent Appeal No. 365 o f 1998 and Cross O bjection/ 
L.P.A. No. 81 of 1999

(15) The facts re la tin g  to the  re sp o n d en t’s c a ree r in  the  
appellan t-bank  have been given above and need not be en tire ly  
recapitulated.

(16) A fter the learned single Judge of th is Court had quashed 
the order of punishm ent made by the bank in C.W.P. No. 15874 of 
1989 on 9 th  April, 1991 D.C. A ggarw al v. S ta te  B a nk  o f In d ia  
(Supra), the m a tte r was taken  to the L etters P a ten t Bench by the

.B an k  which too dism issed the appeal on 15th May, 1991 and to the 
Suprem e Court which allowed the S.L.P. bu t u ltim ately  dism issed 
the appeal on 13th October, 1992 State B ank o f Ind ia  and others v 
D.C. A ggarw al and  another  (Supra), A fte r th e  decision  of th e  
Suprem e Court the respondent was served w ith a notice dated  28th 
December, 1992 for in itia tion  of a fresh d epartm enta l inquiry. The 
respondent th en  filed C.O.C.P. No. 1098 of 1992 in th is  Court in 
which notice was issues to the contem ners S arvshri v. M ahadevan 
and P.V. Subha Rao, M anaging D irectors of the appellant-bank. 
The issuance of the notice was challenged by way of S.L.P. No. 
1707-08 of 1993 and on leave being granted  Civil Appeal No. 4017- 
18 of 1993 was disposed of w ith  the direction th a t  no fresh enquiry 
would be held against the respondent and th a t  a com m ittee be 
constitu ted  for considering his claim to promotion. The m a tte r thus 
far has been dealt in L.P.A. No. 364 of 1998 above. D uring the 
pendency  of the  b it te r  litig a tio n  sh u ttlin g  before th is  and  the 
Suprem e Court the appellant-bank  granted  extension in service to 
the respondent from 10th M arch, 1991 to 9th Septem ber, 1993 i.e. 
upto the age of 58 years, vide le tte rd a ted  9 th  Septem ber, 1993 
(Annexure P-5) however the Chief G eneral M anager inform ed the 
re sp o nd en t th a t  the  Review Com m ittee had  not recom m ended 
fu rth e r extension of his service in term s of Rule 19 of the S tate  
B ank of India Service Rules and th a t  he would superan i 'm 
30th Septem ber, 1998. The respondent p referred  an appeal u^iore
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the Chairman of the bank, the Appellate Authority, which was 
dismissed^ He thereafter filed C.W.P. No. 12062 of 1993 which too 
was dismissed by a Division Bench on 5th October, 1993. This order 
was challenged by the respondent by way of Special Leave Petition 
No. 17752 of 1993 and on leave being granted the resultant Civil 
Appeal No. 1609 of 1994 was allowed on 11th March, 1994 D.C. 
Aggarwal V. State Bank of India and others (7), with the following 
observations :—

“That there appears to be no love lost between the department 
and the appellant. It farther cannot be disputed that the 
appellant was posted to work at a place where his juniors 
were working at higher post. The reaction of the appellant 
who by temperament appears to be excitable as he had 
appeared earlier in person, to orders passed by those who 
were once his junior can very well be visualised. The 
appellant who is a senior officer and has crossed the age of 
58 must realise that this is contrary to service culture. He 
was duty bound to follow the orders and obey them. Nor 
there was any justification at his part to proceed-on leave 
without obtaining permission. We may also observe that 
the conduct of the appellant in attempting to seek interview 
with the Governor by declaring that he was Chief General 
Manager of the Bank was unbecoming of a Senior Officer. 
At the same time the extension of service of an employee 
had to be decided collectively on material on record to find; 
out if the appellant was entitled to extension when it is 
not disputed that very few officers have been refused 
extension in the category of appellant from 58 to 60 years. 
We may not be understood as expressing an opinion on 
the matter. But what has persuaded us to agree with the 
learned counsel for appellant is that the matter of extension 
had to be considered by a committee consisting of Managing 
Director who are mentioned By designation. Admittedly 
hone of them were members of the Committee. The 
respondents, despite our instructions, could not place any 
material to satisfy that the appellant had made any 
allegation against them. Be that as it may, the final 
authority which had to pass the order under the rules was

(7) J.T. 1994 (2) S.C. 678.
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not the committee but a different person higher in rank 
than the members who constituted the committee. The 
Review Committee appears to be recommending body only. 
The final order had to be passed by the competent authority 
on recommendation of the committee. Such officer, it is 
stated, it always higher in rank than the Deputy 
Managing Director. Unfortunately, in this case the final 
order has been passed by a person who was a member of 
the Review Committee. This, in our opinion, was in gross 
violation of the procedure and the guide-lines provided. It 
is also violative of fairplay. The Review Committee was 
only a recommendatory body. The final order was to be 
passed by the competent authority. And this does not appear 
to have been done. We are conscious that the appellate 
authority had examined the record. But the appellant 

•authority did not apply its mind to this aspect which was 
basic and fundamental. We are, therefore; of the opinion 
that the decision taken by the respondents was vitiated by 
violating the rules and the guide-lines provided by 
extension of service.

In the result, this appeal succeeds and is allowed. The orders 
passed by the High Court, the appellate authority and the 
Review Committee are quashed. The respondents are 
directed to constitute a fresh committee of the personnel 
mentioned in the rule itself. In case the appellant had made 
any allegation against any of those Deputy Managing 
Directors then the Committee shall comprise of Deputy 
Managing Directors other than those who are mentioned 
in the rules. The earlier Deputy Managing Directors who 
were the members of the new com m ittee. The 
recommendation of the committee shall be placed before 
the competent authority who shall be different and higher 
in rank than the members who shall constitute the 
committee. Such committee shall be constituted within two 
weeks from today and the decision by the competent 
authority shall be taken within two weeks thereafter.”

(17) As it was found that the order of the Supreme Court could 
not be complied with in toto for reasons that would soon be evident,
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the appellant-bank filed I.A. No. 3 of 1994 for clarification of this 
order. This too was disposed of on 13th May, 1994 in the following 
terms:—

“I.A. No. 3/94 is taken on board.
..In this application the respondents have sought for 

clarification of modification of the order dated 11th March, 
1994 and for extension of time for compliance of the order 
dated 11th March, 1994. It is stated in the petition that 
the Chairman and the Managing Director is the appellant 
authority and as a consequence he cannot deal with the 
matter sitting as a member of the committee to consider 
the case of the appellant. It is further stated that as regards 
Mr. N.G. P illai and Mr. R. Sinha, Deputy Director 
(Personnel) and Deputy Managing Director (Corporate 
Operations and Service) respectively, they having dealt 
with the matter, the appellant has some reservation about 
them. Under those circumstances, they are unable to be 
nominated as Members of the committee as directed earlier 
by this Court.

Since this Court has directed that the Managing Director of 
the Bank would be the member of the Committee, instead 
of Dr. M.K. Sinha of the Bank, we direct the respondent 
State Bank of India to nominate any of the Managing 
Directors of any other nationalised bank as a Chairman/ 
member. In the petition they have given the names of six 
persons, two of them may be nominated as members of the 
committee. For that the petitioner has no objection for 
appointment of Mr. Kathuria, Deputy Managing Director 
(Treasury & Investments Management). Since it is 
desirable that a committee of three would be feasible to 
decide the matter, we direct that Mr. R. Vishwanathan, 
Deputy Managing Director (Commercial Banking) be 
nominated as third Member. This three members Committee 
would consider and decide the claim of the appellant for 
extension of the terms in the light of the directions issued 
by this Court’s order dated 11th March, 1994 according to 
rules. It is made clear that it is not open to the parties to 
challenge the constitution of the committee as per the 
directions of this Court in any of the proceedings thereafter.

< Three weeks time is granted to constitute the committee



176 I.L.R. Punjab and Haryana 1999(2)

for consideration of the claim for extension. Thereafter, 
two weeks time is granted to the competent authority to 
take the decision.”

(18) -̂ n compliance with the time bound directions of the 
Hon’ble Supreme Court, a meeting of the Executive Body of the 
bank was held at Bangalore on 27th May, 1994 and it was decided 
to formally constitute a three member committee headed by Shri S. 
Doreswamy, Chairman-cum-Managing Director, Central Bank of 
India, as Chairman member, and Sarvshri V. Vishwanathan and 
G. Kathuria, Deputy Managing Director (Commercial Banking) and 
Deputy M anaging Director (Treasury and Investm ent 
Management), respectively, as the other two members. Shri S. 
Doreswamy was also appointed as the competent authority. Sarvshri 
R. Vishwanathan and G. Kathuria after two meetings held on the 
6th and 9th' June, 1994 made their recommendation dated 16th 
June, 1994, Annexure P-7 to the Chairman/competent authority, 
Shri S. Doreswamy, recommending that it was not in the interest of 
the bank to give an extension in service to the respondent bevond 
58 years. This proposal was examined and accepted by the 
competent authority on that very day,—vide order Annexure P-8. 
All three members of the committee thereafter met and recorded 
the minutes of the proceedings held on 18th June, 1994 which had 
culminated in the recommendation Annexure P-7 and the order 
Annexure P-8 dated 16th June, 1994. Aggrieved by the order 
Annexure P-8 the respondent filed C.O.C.P. No. 4 of 1995 before 
the Hon’ble Supreme Court which was dismissed as withdrawn 
leaving it open to him to seek his remedy against the decision of the 
committee. It is in this background that the respondent filed 
C.W.P.No. 5567 of 1995 out.of which the present appeal has arisen.

(19) The learned single Judge found that the respondent-writ 
petitioner could not challenge the constitution of the Review 
Committee as it had been so ordered by the Hon’ble Supreme Court, 
but held that the Review Committee had not made an objective 
assessment of his record as Annexure R-l on which it had been 
based, the recommendation made by the Chief General Manager, 
did not give an accurate picture of his service record, and that the 
litigation pending between the bank and the respondent had clouded 
the objectivity of the members of the Review Committee. In 
particular, the learned single Judge noted that the reference to 
disciplinary proceedings made in para (d) of Annexure R-l was
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wholly unjustified as in the report rendered by Mr. A.R. Rastogi a 
finding had been recorded that the evidence against the respondent 
had been fabricated with an intention to denigrate his conduct and 
that this finding stood endorsed by the Court in C.W.P. No. 15874 
of 1989 D.C. Aggarwal v. State of India (Supra), and by the Supreme 
Court in State Bank of India v. D.C. Aggarwal (Supra), with the 
result that the observations of the enquiry officer had received 
judicial approval at the highest level. It was also observed by the 
learned single Judge that.reference to the frequent litigation, in 
which the respondent - writ petitioner stood involved with the 
appellant-bank and in his three A.C. Rs. (all being recorded on one 
day by "the same officer) just four days before he was to be 
interviewed for promotion to T.E.G. Scale VII supported the 
inference that a concerted attempt had been made to prejudice the 
respondents case before the Review Committee. The learned single 
Judge also sought some support for this view from the fact that two 
officers of the Bank, namely, Sarvshri Harbhajan Singh and J.K. 
Jain whose performance had been rated poor and had been over­
looked for promotion several times had yet been given extension in 
service up to 60 years on 5th February, 1992 and 17th February, 
1993, respectively, whereas the respondent with a far better record 
had been ignored. The Court accordingly held that the action of the 
Review Committee and thereafter the competent authority was 
arbitrary and liable to be struck down as being opposed to Articles 
14 and 16 of the Constitution of India. Having held as above, the 
learned single Judge allowed the writ petition and quashed 
Annexures P-7 and P-8. The present appeal has been filed against 
this judgment whereas cross objections have also been filed by the 
respondent-writ petitioner. The appeal as also the cross-objections/ 
appeal registered as L.P.A. No. 81 of 1999 are being disposed of by 
this judgment.

(20) Mr. Ashok Aggarwal has urged that the finding of the 
learned single Judge on the various issues raised before him were 
contrary to the facts and the law on the subject. He has pointed out 
that the finding of the learned single Judge that a deliberate attempt 
had been made by the Chief General Manager while forwarding 
his recommendation Annexure R-1 for consideration of the Review 
Committee was biased was, in fact, wrong for the reason that the 
recommendation Annexure R-l which was on a prescribed proforma 
pertained to a faithful reproduction of the respondent’s record. He
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has, in particular, pointed out that the various factors that were in 
the respondent’s favour had been equally noted as those against 
him. He has also argued that the finding of the learned single Judge 
that the observations of Shri A.K. Rastogi and of the learned single 
Judge in C.W.P. No. 15874 of 1989 had been endorsed by the 
Supreme Court was not correct as the Supreme Court decision had 
been rendered exclusively on the ground that the punishment order 
stood vitiated as some material which ought to have been supplied 
to the respondent had not been supplied to him in the course of the 
inquiry. It has also been urged that* the service record of Shri 
Harbhajan Singh and Shri J. K. Jain (which appears to have tilted 
the balance in favour of the respondent) was in fact far superior to 
that of the respondent and attention has been drawn to this record 
which is on the file. It has finally been pleaded that the Hon’ble 
Supreme Court which construing an identical rule in State Bank of 
Bikaner and Jaipur and others v. Jagmohan Lai (8), had observed 
that an officer had a right to remain in service upto superannuation 
i.e. 58 years but beyond that age he had no such right unless his 
tenure was extended by the bank under its sole discretion and that 
there was no scope for complaining of arbitrariness in the matter in 
giving or refusing extension. Mr. Aggarwal has accordingly urged 
that despite the observations of the Supreme Court noted above, 
and quoted in extenso in the judgment, it had been held that the 
action of the appellant-bank declining extension in service to the 
respondent was vitiated by arbitrariness.

(21) The respondent has, however, raised certain additional 
issues. It has first and foremost been urged that the policy of the 
appellant bank governing extension had not been followed in the 
respondent case as there was an obvious bias and discrimination 
against him in the institution. It has also been urged that the Hon’ble 
Supreme Court had clearly held in its called orders that a member 
of the Review Committee could not act as a competent authority 
and in that eventuality the appointment of Mr. S. Doreswamy in 
both capacities was bad. It has also been greatly emphasised that 
as the Supreme Court had directed that the Review Committee would 
consist of three members, the recommendation Annexure P-7 dated 
16th June, 1993, rendered by Sarvshri R. Vishwanathan and G. 
Kathuria, being contrary to the directions of the Supreme Court, 
was bad in law. It has also been finally argued that the action of 
the competent authority i.e. Shri S. Doreswamy was even otherwise 
actuated by mala fides and, as such, could not be sustained.

(8) A.I.R. 1989 S.C. 75.
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(22) We have given careful consideration to the points raised 
by the parties. We first address ourselves to the arguments 
addressed by Mr. Ashok Aggarwal with regard to the findigns of 
the learned single Judge. We first deal with the question as to the 
objections raised with regard to the recommendations Annexure R- 
1 made by the Chief General Manager, Chandigarh Head Office. 
We are of the opinion that the document Annexure R-l must be 
read as a whole. In Annexure B thereto while detailing the 
respondent’s suspension for some mis-conduct during his stint at 
Dhanbad, a clear reference has also been made to the fact that he 
had been restored to his original cadre in TEG Scale VI in terms of 
the order of the Supreme Court. It cannot, therefore, be said that 
Annexure R-l related to a fact which was wrong. The learned single 
Judge also appears to have been deeply influenced by the fact that 
creation of evidence recorded by Mr. Rastogi and that the opinion 
rendered by Mr. A. K. Rastogi that the respondent had been 
victimised by the Bank and that of unfairness and bias recorded by 
the learned single Judge in the earlier writ petition had been 
endorsed by the Supreme Court while disposing of the matter 
reported as State Bank of India v. D.C. Aggarwal (Supra). This 
view is also not entirely accurate for the reason that the Hon’ble 
Supreme Court observed that though many issues had been raised 
in the appeal yet the same was being disposed of on the limited 
ground that the non-supply of the report of the Central Vigilance 
Commission which had been relied upon by the punishing authority, 
had not been supplied to the respondent leading to prejudice to him 
in the course of the inquiry.

(23) The learned single Judge has also to some extent relied 
upon the comparative service record of the respondent vis-a-vis 
Sarvshri Harbhajan Singh and J. K. Jain who had been granted 
extension upto 60 years and a finding has been recorded that the 
service record of both these officers was poor whereas the record of 
the respondent was far better. We have gone through the pleadings 
and find that no details have been furnished with regard to the 
service record of Sarvshri Harbhajan Singh and J. K. Jain in the 
writ petition but in the rejoinder to the reply a comparative chart 
has been given at page 6 thereof, and in the course of arguments 
the respondent has furnished yet another chart showing the 
allegedly poor record of these two officers. When called upon to 
disclose the source of his information, the respondent clearly 
admitted that this chart had been prepared by him on an inspection 
of the record while it lay in the court of the learned single Judge
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and that the assessment reproduced by him was in his own words. 
We are of the opinion that the details given by the respondent, 
therefore, have no sanctity as only the adverse features have been 
selectively picked up and could not have, therefore, formed an 
accurate basis for this finding of the learned Single Judge. Although 
this Court cannot act as an appellate authority over the action of 
the Review Committee in making a comparative assessment of the 
service record of the respondent vis-a-vis the other two officers yet 
we have chosen to undertake this exercise so as to meet the reasons 
that weighed with the writ Court. The service record of both the 
officers is before us as Annexures A-l and A-2 filed along with C.M. 
No. 1147 of 1998 in the present appeal. This record pertains to the 
proceedings leading to the grant of extension of service up to 60 
years in which three years record prior to the date of extension has 
to be taken into account. In the document Annexure A-l the overall 
performance of Shri J.K. Jain has been rated as Good with excellent 
grading in some of the parameters. The Controlling Authority 
accordingly suggested that he be granted extension up to 60 years. 
Like-wise, we have gone through Annexure A-2 pertaining to Shri 
Harbhajan Singh in .which case the ACRs for the three previous 
years have also been appended and we find that the overall 
assessment is at least good. It is clear to us that every officer has a 
right to a fair consideration of his case for promotion or extension 
in servce and if this exercise is fairly made, no officer can complain 
of arbitrariness. We are of the opinion that this exercise has been 
fairly carried out in the present case.

(24) It has been argued by the respondent that the procedure 
envisaged for the grant or refusal of extension in service up to 60 
years had not been followed by the Review Committee and for this 
additional reason the orders impugned were bad in law. It has been 
highlighted that as per the policy for the grant of extension 
Annexure P-2 the bank was obliged to bring a poor or average record 
to the notice of the respondent before any adverse orders were 
passed and as this had not been done, the presumption was that 
his record had been good all along. It has been urged that though 
it was the discretion of the bank to refuse or to grant extension, the 
discretion could not have been exercised against him on account of 
the above factor. Mr. Ashok Aggarwal has, however, controverted 
the respondents assertion and has pointed out that it was for the 
bank to take a decision on the suitability of retaining the respondent 
in service up to 60 years at its discretion and that the sole 
consideration was as to whether the continuance of the respondent
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was in its interest or not. In this connection Mr. Aggarwal has placed 
reliance on Rule 20 of the State Bank of India (Supervisory Staff) 
service Rule 1975 (here-in-after called the “Rules of 1975”) and Rule 
19 of the State Bank of India Officers Service Rules, 1992 (here-in- 
after called the “Service Rules”), as well as paragraphs 4 and 6 of 
the Guidelines, Annexure P-2 to the petitioner. Rule 2Q of the Rules 
of 1975 and 19 of the Service Rules, which provide that an officer 
of the bank shall superannuate on attaining the age of 68 years, 
although extension in service could be granted by the competent 
authority in its discretion beyond 58 years if it finds that the 
extension is desirable in the interest of the Bank. Paragraphs 4 
and 6 of the Guide-lines give the criteria for the grant of extension 
in service or its refusal and postulate inter alia, that an officer who 
performs well, is efficient and possesses good health should be 
considered suitable for the grant of extension in service and, 
contrarily, an officer whose performance is poor or whose integrity 
is not beyond doubt or who is inefficient or in poor health should 
not be granted extension in service. It has also been stipulated that 
the guiding factor for considering an officer suitable for the grant 
of extension or otherwise was his utility and usefulness to the Bank. 
Paragraph 6 of the guide-lines further stipulates that particulars 
relating to the officer performance arising out of liis annual 
confidential reports should be filed by the Controlling Authority in 
the prescribed proforma to be put up for consideration before the 
Review Committee. While dealing with an identical situation in 
Jagmohan Lai’s case (supra), the Hon’ble Supreme Court observed 
as under :—

“In the scheme provided herein the respondent or any other 
officer of the Bank has a legitimate right to remain in 
service till he attains the age of superannuation. But 
beyond that age, he has no such right unless his service is 
extended by the Bank. The further rights of parties are 
regulated by the proviso to Regn. 19(1). It reads :—

Provided that the competent authority may at its discretion, 
extend the period of service of an officer who has attained 
the age of fifty-eight years or has completed thirty years’ 
service as the case may be, should such extension be 
deemed desirable in the interest of the Bank.......
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The sole purpose of giving extension of service is, therefore, to 
promote the interest of the Bank and not to confer any 
benefit on the retiring officers. Incidentally, the extension 
may benefit retired officials. But it is a conferment 
of benefit of privilege on officers. The officers upon 
attaining the age of superannuation of putting the required 
number of years of service do not earn that benefit or
privilege...... If the bank considers that the service of an
officer is desirable in the interest of the Bank, it may allow 
him to continue in service beyond the age of 
superannuation. If the Bank considers that the service of 
an officer is not required beyond superannuation, it is an 
end of the matter. It is no reflection on the officer. It carries 
no stigm a...........

The Bank, however, is required to consider the case of 
individual officers with due regard to (i) continued utility 
(ii) good health and (iii) integrity beyond reproach of the 
officer. If the officer lacks one or the other, the Bank is not 
bound to give him extension of service. In this case, the 
Bank has shown to the High Court that the case of 
respondent was considered and he did not fit in the said 
guide-lines. The High Court does not sit in an appeal 
against that decision. The High Court under Article 226 
cannot review that decision.

The bank has 90 obligation to extend the services of all officers 
even if they are found suitable in every respect. The 
interest of the Bank is the primary consideration for giving 
extension of service. With due regard to exigencies of 
service, the Bank in one year may give extension to all 
suitable retiring officers. In another year, it may give 
extension to some and not to all, in a subsequent year, it 
may not give extension to any one of the officers. The Bank 
may have a lot of fresh recruits in one year. The Bank 
may not need the services of All retired persons in another 
year. The Bank may have lesser work load in a succeeding 
year. The retiring persons cannot in any year demand that 
“extension to all or none”. If we concede that right to 
retiring persons, then the very purpose of giving extension 
in the interest of the Bank would be defeated. We are, 
therefore, of opinion that there is no scope for complaining 
arbitrariness in the matter of giving extension of service 
to retiring persons.”
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(25) The learned single Judge has found the recommendations 
of the Review Committee to be arbitrary for the reason that the 
controlling authority i.e. the Chief General Manager, Chandigarh, 
while forwarding his recommendation Annexure R-l had painted 
an incorrect picture of the respondents record. We are of the opinion 
for the reasons, already recorded, that the recommendation 
Annexure R-l was a faithful reproduction of his service career and 
as the proposal had been forwarded on the prescribed proforma, 
the controlling authority had absolutely no discretion in the matter 
to leave certain matters out of consideration.

(26) The respondent has also laid a serious challenge to the 
constitution of the Review Committee and to the power? of the 
competent authority and has urged that in the light of the judgment 
of the Hon’ble Supreme Court in D. C. Aggarwal v. The State Bank 
of India and others (9), as clarified by the order, date 13th May, 
1994 made on I.A. No. 3 of 1994 it was incumbent that the .Review 
Committee consist of three members with yet another person higher 
in rank being the competent authority and as his case has been 
considered by a two member committee consisting of Sarvshri G. 
Kathuria and R. Vishwanathan the recommendations made violated 
the Supreme Court order and wqs, therefore, bad in law. Mr. Aahok 
Aggarwal has, however, controverted this stand and has urged that 
it had been specifically directed by the Hon’ble Supreme Court in 
the clarificatory order that the Review Committee would decide the 
matter according to the rules and as a quorum of two was provided 
by the rules, the decision taken being in accordance with the rules 
was fully in order. In this connection, reliance has been placed by 
both the parties on Annexure P-2 dated 4th January, 1998. These 
Guide-lines have to be interpreted in the respondents case in the 
light of the Supreme Courts orders in the two matters listed above 
in this paragraph and which have been reproduced in extenso in 
the earlier part of the judgment in the present appeal, (pages 34- 
41 of this judgment) It is true that there are frequent references to 
the fact that it would be desirable and feasible that a Three Member 
Committee should consider and decide the respondents claim but it 
has further been directed in the order dated 13th May, 1994 that 
his claim for extension would also be decided according to rules. 
The rules in question are the Rules of 1975, the service Rules and 
the instructions Annexure P-2 with the latter specifically providing 
that the review should be under taken by a Review Committee in a

(9) 1994 Supp. (2) S.C.C. 131
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meeting especially convened for the purpose where at least two of 
the members of the Committee are present. Admittedly, the 
recommendation Annexure P-7 was made by two members of the 
Review Committee. The respondent has also laid great stress on the 
fact that Mr. S. Doreswamy who was the competent authority could 
not have acted as such as he had been inducted as a member of the 
Review Committee and not as the competent authority by the 
Hon’ble Supreme Court. This argument is also unacceptable for the 
reason that the Supreme Court was well aware of the situation in 
which the parties stood placed at the time when they made the two 
orders. It has to be borne in mind that the Court had specifically 
provided that the competent authority would be a person higher in 
rank than the members constituting the Review Committee and for 
that reason had left it open to the appellant-bank to nominate a 
Managing Director of any other nationalised bank as Chairman/ 
Member of the committee. Admittedly, Shri G. Kathuria, who was 
acceptable to the respondent, and Shri R. Vishwanathan who had 
been nominated by the Hon’ble Supreme Court, were Deputy 
Managing Directors of the State Bank whereas Shri S. Doreswamy 
who was nominated as the competent authority by the Executive 
Committee of the State Bank of India in its resolution of 27th May, 
1994 was the Managing Director cum-Chairman of the Central Bank 
of India and thereby higher in rank to the members of the Review 
Committee. It is also true that Annexure P-2 provided that the 
Reivew Committee in the case of officers in T.E.G. Scale VI and 
above was to consist of the Managing Director, Deputy Managing 
Director (Personnel and Management) and Deputy Managing 
Director (Corporate, Operation and Service) by designation whereas 
the competent authority was to be the Managing Director of the 
State Bank of India, but we are of the opinion that as a consequence 
of the orders of the Hon’ble Supreme Court the Review Committee 
and the competent authority envisaged under the Guide-lines 
Annexure P-2 had been substituted, as a fair arrangement to deal 
with the respondents case on account of the fact that there was a 
long and bitter history of litigation, spreading over almost two 
decades and there being no other officer acceptable to the respondent 
who could be designated as the Managing Director and therefore, 
the competent authority to pass the final order. The respondents 
case was to be considered otherwise according to the rules with Shri 
S. Doreswamy replacing the competent authority and Sarvshri 
Kathuria and R. Vishwanathan replacing the two other designated 
Deputy Managing Directors as members of the Review Committee. 
In the light of all that has been narrated above, we are of the opinion
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that the orders when read together lead to the conclusion that we 
have arrived at. It is also significant that even the respondent 
appears to have accepted this position for the reason that he had 
raised no objection to the constitution of the two member Review 
Committee and the competent authority in the course of his 
pleadings and even before the learned single Judge and it was on 
account of the questions raised by us in this appeal that appear to 
have prompted him to take up this plea for the first time.

(27) The respondent has also raised a plea challenging the 
appointment of the competent authority and the members of the 
Review Committee. He has, in particular, raised serious objection 
to the appointment of Shri S. Doreswamy on the plea that he was 
greatly indebted to Mr.Basu, the Chairman of the State Bank of 
India for his appointment as the Managing Director-cum-Chairman 
of the Central Bank of India. We find this plea wholly untenable as 
there is no material on record to sustain it. Moreover, the Hon’ble 
Supreme Court in its order dated 13th May,1994 in I.A. No. 4 of 
1994 had clearly stated that the parties would not be at liberty to 
challenge the Constitution of the Review Committee that had been 
formed under the orders of the Court itself.

(28) We are, therefore, of the opinion that the judgement of 
the learned single Judge cannot be sustained. This appeal 
accordingly succeeds, the judgment of the learned single Judge is 
set aside, with the result that the writ petition stands dismissed. 
Ipso facto the Cross-objection registered as L.P.A. No. 81 of 1999 
also stands dismissed.

(29) During the pendency of these appeals, both the parties 
have filed a large number of documents in Court. In the interest of 
justice, we have taken all on record, without being tied down by 
legal procedure.

(30) The Hon’ble Supreme Court in its order dated 16th 
November, 1998 had directed that the appeals be disposed off in 
any event by 1st March, 1999. This time schedule could not be 
adhered to primarily for the reason that the respondent had sought 
time to get certain directions from the Supreme Court as would be 
clear from the orders made by this Court on 13th January, 1999, 
1st February, 1999 and 2nd February, 1999. The appeals were 
ultimately taken up for day to day hearing on 15th February, 1999 
and the arguments were concluded and judgment reserved on 24th 
Feburary, 1999.
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(31) The above noted appeales are disposed of accordingly 
with no order as to costs.
R.N.R.

Before Jawahar Lai Gupta & N. C. Khichi, JJ .
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CWP No. 8150 o f 1998 
21st December, 1998

C onstitution o f India , 1950—Art. 226— Writ petition  to stall 
an enquiry or to even quash a charge sheet— M a in ta inab ility  o f 
such writ petition.

Held  that a writ Court does not normally intervene to stall an 
enquiry or to even quash a charge sheet. However, in the present 
case we are satisfied that silence shall ncjt be the right option. When 
things are ill done, silence is a sin. The present case falls in the 
category of the rarest of the rare cases where the court should 
intervene to prevent infliction of injustice.

(Para 103)
Constitution of India, 1950—Art. 226—Jurisdiction of State 

Government to initiate disciplinary proceedings against an IAS 
Officer—Inquiry against the petitioner—Documents claimed not 
provided to the p etitioner—W hether denial of reasonable 
opportunity.

H eld  that the State Government had power to initiate  
discip linary proceedings against a member of the Indian  
Administrative Service under the rules.

(Para 103)
Further held that there was a denial of reasonable opportunity 

to the petitioner as he was not given copies of the documents or 
permission to inspect the record. The action was violative of the 
principles of natural justice. The respondents have not followed the 
basic rules and norms for a just and fair enquiry. They have violated 
the minimum guarantee that the officer shall be given an effective


